RECEIVED

Jun 11 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARK ANTHONY FESTUS SCHEIBLER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001268

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MOLLY M. KEEGAN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court erred by admitting a recorded jail call between appellant and his niece because the calls were obtained in violation of appellant's privacy rights?

II.

Whether the trial court abused its discretion by admitting texts messages extracted from appellant's phone and sent on December 2, 2021, prior to his arrest, where the text messages were not admissible as evidence of flight to demonstrate evidence of appellant's consciousness of guilt because there was no nexus between the alleged evasive conduct and the charged offenses and where the probative value of the text messages was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?

III.

Whether the trial court erred in sentencing appellant to five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime in violation of S.C. Code §16-23-490 when the judge sentenced appellant to life in prison for murder?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June of 2025, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted appellant for murder and possession of a weapon during commission of a crime. R. *(Indictments). On June 16, 2025, appellant's case was called to trial before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, and a jury. Tr. I, p. 1.¹ Suzanne Mayes and Kelly Oppenheimer represented the state. Tr. I, p. 1. Jean M. Popowski, Stephen Russel Story, Jr., and Gabriel L. Mangold represented appellant. Tr. I, p. 1. The jury found appellant guilty as indicted. Tr. II, p. 458, ll. 16-25. Judge McLeod imposed a life sentence as to murder and a concurrent five-year sentence as to the possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime offense. Tr. II, p. 468, ll. 15-24. Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. R. *(Notice of appeal).

This brief follows.

¹ On November 27, 2023, appellant proceeded to trial on the above charges as well as the charge of arson. Ultimately, the 2023 jury rendered a not guilty verdict as to arson and the trial court declared a mistrial as to the remaining charges because the jury could not come to a decision.

ARGUMENTS

I.

The trial court erred by admitting a recorded jail call between appellant and his niece because the calls were obtained in violation of appellant's privacy rights.

Standard of review

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*; see also *State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

Relevant facts

Motion to suppress jail calls

Prior to trial, appellant moved to suppress jail calls recorded while appellant was being detained. Tr. I, p. 120, ll. 10-13.² Defense counsel argued that admission of the calls would violate the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution as well as the right to privacy in Article 1 Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution. Tr. I, p. 120, ll. 10-19. Counsel pointed to his written motion which cited to *State v. Ellefson*, 266 S.C. 494, 224 S.E.2d 666 (1976) where our Supreme Court held that a defendant's letters obtained by law enforcement from the jail were admitted in violation of the South Carolina and United States Constitutions. Tr. I, p. 120, l. 19 – 121, l. 2. Counsel argued that in *Ellefson*, our Supreme Court looked to 1) whether the regulation or practice in question furthered an important substantial governmental interest, and

² For ease of reference, “Transcript I” refers to the transcript of the proceedings on June 16-17, 2025, while “Transcript II” refers to the transcript of the proceedings on June 18-20, 2025.

2) the limitation of the First Amendment must be no greater than necessary and essential to the protection of the government interest. Tr. I, p. 121, ll. 6-17. Counsel noted that in *Ellefson*, there was a signed and written waiver that the letters would be read, however, the *Ellefson* Court found that fact was not dispositive to establish a voluntary waiver for purposes of their right to privacy and right against searches and seizures under the Fourth Amendment. Tr. I, p. 122, ll. 4-9. Counsel argued that the act of signing a waiver was more assertive than the statement in many of the recorded jail calls that the calls would be recorded. Tr. I, p. 122, ll. 9-12.

In addition, defense counsel contended that there was “no substantial governmental interest except for investigation.” Tr. I, p. 122, ll. 12-13. He argued that while law enforcement and the solicitors often cite safety issues, *Ellefson* and other cases provide that “general safety” cannot satisfy as a governmental interest. Tr. I, p. 122, ll. 14-16. He argued that pretrial detainees, like appellant, have to talk to people on the outside to marshal a defense and communicate with their family members, friends, and other close persons. Tr. I, p. 122, l. 24 – 123, ll. 4. He asserted that there was no interest present in appellants case but instead the jail and the solicitor gather the jail calls “simply for the purpose of investigation.” Tr. I, p. 123, ll. 16-25. He concluded by asking the trial court to suppress the recorded jail calls as they were obtained merely for investigative purposes and there was no evidence that appellant was “bringing contraband into jail or anything like that.” Tr. I, p. 124, ll. 1-6.

The state responded that the Fourth Amendment focused on reasonable expectations of privacy. Tr. I, p. 124, ll. 8-15. The state contended that there was no reasonable expectation of privacy in calls made while in jail and there was “certainly a waiver by continuing to make phone calls in jail.” Tr. I, p. 124, ll. 16-18. The state distinguished from the cited cases because appellant’s case concerned calls while the cases concerned mail. Tr. I, p. 124, ll. 19-22. The

state argued that jail calls allowed “any other person working the jail, any other inmate in the booking area where [appellant] made the call, could overhear what he was saying.” Tr. I, p. 124, ll. 22-24. The state thus concluded that there was no “reasonable expectation of privacy, and the Fourth Amendment would not protect his calls.” Tr. I, p. 125, ll. 7-9. Further, the state argued that there was an “implicit waiver,” even if there were a reasonable expectation of privacy as appellant continued to make calls. Tr. I, p. 125, ll. 9-11.

The trial court determined that “[b]ased on the record we’ve made here today I’ll deny the motion to suppress the jail calls at this time.” Tr. I, p. 125, ll. 21-23.

Trial

On November 27, 2021, several 911 calls were placed concerning gunshots that were heard at Mac Circle. Tr. I, p. 166, ll. 17-21; p. 173, ll. 9-20; p. 187, ll. 1-9. Officers arrived at the scene and located an individual, later identified as Jimmy Johnson, with multiple gunshot wounds.³ Tr. I, p. 207, l. 21 – 209, l. 7. Diedre Smith, Johnson’s girlfriend, testified that she and Johnson both had campers located on the Mac Circle property. Tr. I, p. 226, ll. 6-13; 229, ll. 16-22. She testified that on November 27, 2021, she was woken up by Johnson saying that his camper was on fire. Tr. I, p. 230, ll. 10-12. She explained that Johnson left the camper to figure out what was going on. Tr. I, p. 231, ll. 7-10. As she was starting to head out of the camper, she heard pops. Tr. I, p. 233, ll. 16-24. Initially, she did not realize the multiple pops were gunshots. Tr. I, p. 234, ll. 2-6. When she got to the porch she saw Johnson face down on the porch. Tr. I, p. 234, ll. 22-25. She tried to move him, but he was unresponsive. Tr. I, p. 235, ll. 1-9. A neighbor came to help her, and they moved Johnson from the front porch onto a golf cart top. Tr. I, p. 235, ll. 11-16. When they moved Johnson, she realized that he had been shot. Tr.

³ During trial, a forensic pathologist testified that Johnson’s cause of death was gunshot wounds to the torso. Tr. II, p. 103, ll. 16-18.

I, p. 235, ll. 16-18. Smith testified that she never saw a shooter in the yard or a vehicle that the shooter was in. Tr. I, p. 239, ll. 17-20.

Smith then testified that she had seen appellant a few nights prior on November 23, 2021. Tr. I, p. 244, l. 22 – 245, l. 7. Appellant asked for a ride into town and Johnson and appellant left with Smith's car. Tr. I, p. 245, l. 11 – 247, ll. 11. Johnson came back thirty minutes later alone. Tr. I, p. 247, ll. 17-24. Finally, Smith testified that on the day of the incident the front passenger and rear tires of her car were slashed. Tr. I, p. 251, ll. 18-24.

Patrick Ward, an expert in crime scene investigations, testified that he observed blood on the porch, deck, and front door area. Tr. I, p. 266, ll. 12-22. He located two fired cartridge cases in the front yard area and five fired cartridge cases on the front porch, all of which were nine millimeter caliber. Tr. I, p. 270, ll. 12-24. An expert in crime scene investigations, including firearms examination and crime scene reconstruction, also opined that the seven 9mm fired shell casings were fired from the same firearm. Tr. II, p. 361, ll. 16-21.

Several officers testified that appellant was ultimately detained on December 2, 2021, on Thrush Street. Tr. II, p. 11, ll. 14-17; p. 15, ll. 17-21; p. 16, ll. 10-14. A cellphone was collected when appellant was detained. Tr. II, p. 16, ll. 15-18. Appellant provided consent to search his phone. Tr. II, p. 17, l. 23 – 18, l. 1. An extraction was completed on appellant's phone. Tr. II, p. 43, ll. 11-19. Three factory resets were associated with appellant's phone on November 27, 2021, at 9:45 a.m. and 9:39 p.m., and a third factory reset was completed at 11:40 p.m. on December 1, 2021. Tr. II, p. 149, ll. 11-24.

Stacie Fidler then testified that on November 27, 2021, she lived on Harbison Boulevard with Jeffrey Davidock. Tr. II, p. 197, l. 16 – 198, l. 13. Earlier in November she got a rental car. Tr. II, p. 200, ll. 7-11. She recalled that the same day she got the rental car, Davidock's work

colleague was at their residence when she returned home. Tr. II, p. 201, l. 19 – 202, l. 3. The work colleague was appellant, whom she had never seen prior to that night, November 24, 2021. Tr. II, p. 202, ll. 12-20. She described that appellant was mad that someone had taken his girlfriend's belongings and Fidler further testified that appellant "said that he was going to kill him" Tr. II, p. 203, ll. 8-13. She testified she heard appellant say he would "go to his house and shoot him when he came out." Tr. II, p. ll. 14-15. She testified that the person appellant was angry with was Johnson. Tr. II, p. 204, ll. 17-20. Fidler also explained that on Friday November 26, 2021, her rental car was gone. Tr. II, p. 211, ll. 17-20. She testified that she called appellant several times trying to get the car back. Tr. II, p. 212, ll. 9-13. She testified that at 9:29 a.m. on Saturday appellant told her she did not want the car back. Tr. II, p. 214, ll. 11-22. On Sunday she learned that Johnson was dead, and she never heard from appellant again or had her rental car returned to her. Tr. II, p. 215, ll. 22-24; p. 218, ll. 20-25.

Jeffrey Davidock then testified that on November 24, 2021, appellant called him and said he needed a place to sleep. Tr. II, p. 235, ll. 10-19. Davidock described appellant as paranoid and agitated. Tr. II, p. 236, ll. 1-3. He testified that appellant said someone stole his girlfriend's belongings and he wanted them back. Tr. II, p. 236, ll. 5-12. Davidock testified that appellant said he was going to go to Johnson's place, and when Johnson came out he was going to shoot him. Tr. II, p. 237, ll. 3-21. He testified that they all went to sleep, and when he woke up the next morning the rental car was gone.⁴ Tr. II, p. 238, ll. 2-17.

Jail calls entered at trial

Paula Hare, a lieutenant with the Lexington County Sheriff's Office at the detention center testified that records were kept of visitors to inmates. Tr. II, p. 167, l. 22 – 168, l. 22. She

⁴ During trial, the state presented evidence that the rental car was later discovered from a report to the Aiken County Sheriff's Department for an abandoned vehicle. See Tr. II, p. 255-264.

testified that appellant's visitor log listed Doshia Folden, his niece. Tr. II, p. 170, ll. 15-23. The phone number associated with Folden ended in -5606. Tr. II, p. 171, ll. 9-11. Michael Layland, the president of AmTel, testified that AmTel provided communication for residents inside the facility and records those jail calls. Tr. II, p. 173, ll. 1-12. He testified that an audio warning is heard when a call is placed and there was a placard on the telephone itself with a warning. Tr. II, p. 173, ll. 13-17. He explained that calls are retained in the ordinary course of business for five years. Tr. II, p. 173, ll. 18-22. AmTel can pull calls from a database if requested. Tr. II, p. 173, ll. 23-25. He explained, however, that the warden determines who has access to that process. Tr. II, p. 174, ll. 2-5. He testified that he was asked to pull a jail call assigned to appellant. Tr. II, p. 174, ll. 6-8. He testified that the date of the call was December 3, 2021, and appellant's unique pin number was associated with the call. Tr. II, p. 174, ll. 18-25. The call was made at 3:39 p.m. with appellant's unique pin to a number ending in -5606. Tr. II, p. 177, l. 17 – 178, l. 10. The call was 900 seconds. Tr. II, p. 178, l. 23 – 179, l. 1. Kennedy Conatser, an expert in audio/visual enhancements, testified that he performed several audio enhancements on the jail call. Tr. II, p. 180, l. 8 – 182, l. 20. He was requested to get rid of the background noise on the call. Tr. II, p. 186, l. 21 – 187, l. 1.

Kevin McCullough, a lieutenant employed at Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center, testified that he had access to recorded jail calls. Tr. II, p. 188, ll. 1-11. He reviewed and listened to the jail call related to appellant from December 3, 2021. Tr. II, p. 188, ll. 22-25; p. 189, ll. 14-15. He testified that he was the custodian of records for Alvin S. Glenn and did not have the ability to alter the content of the jail calls. Tr. II, p. 189, ll. 19-22. The state moved exhibits 171-173 into evidence over defense counsel prior objection. Tr. II, p. 190, ll. 2-9.

State's Exhibits 171-173

The first clip, State's Exhibit 171, provides an automated message that all phone calls are subject to monitoring and recording. R *(State's Exhibit 171). In State's Exhibit 172, appellant can be heard stating someone needs to give him his sock back. R *(State's Exhibit 172). Finally, in the third clip, State's Exhibit 173, appellant can be heard saying that someone stole something from him, he told him that he had four hours to give it back, and he did not want to give it back, so he unloaded on him. R *(State's Exhibit 173).

The state then played the jail call for the jury. Tr. II, p. 320, l. 21. Joe Hart, a sergeant with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department, testified that the person on the other end of the call hears the warning. Tr. II, p. 320, l. 23 – 321, l. 1. The state played the jail call for the jury at 90 percent speed, over defense counsel's objection. Tr. II, p. 321, l. 21 – 322, l. 10. Hare testified that at the end of the phone call appellant referenced that something was stolen and appellant said, "I told him he got four hours to give it back, and he didn't want to give it back, so I sure for sure unloaded on him." Tr. II, p. 322, ll. 12-19. Hare testified that "[u]nloaded on him, in [his] experience, refers to unloading a firearm." Tr. 322, ll. 20-24. The state played the jail call for the jury at normal speed. Tr. II, p. 323, ll. 8-12. The state immediately played the call for the jury again at 90 percent speed. Tr. II, p. 323, ll. 16-18. On redirect examination, Hare testified that on the jail call the jury heard, appellant identified himself as the shooter. Tr. II, p. 345, ll. 19-25.

Renewed objections and motions

After the state rested, appellant moved for a directed verdict as to each offense, which the trial court denied. Tr. II, p. 394, l. 9 – 397, l. 4. Defense counsel then renewed all previous objections and motions. Tr. II, p. 397, ll. 7-8. Specifically, counsel renewed his objection to the

denial of the Fourth Amendment motion to keep out the jail call. Tr. II, p. 397, ll. 12-13. The trial court noted that the motions were renewed but determined that the prior rulings stood. Tr. II, p. 397, l. 25 – 398, l. 1. After the defense rested its case, Tr. II, p. 403, ll. 14-15, defense counsel again renewed all prior motions, Tr. II, p. 404, ll. 3-11.

Closing arguments

During its closing argument, the state argued that the jail call was direct evidence from appellant's mouth. Tr. II, p. 407, ll. 11-16. The state argued that the jury could "hear the utter malice still in [appellant's] voice when he talks about what he did," in reference to the jail call. Tr. II, p. 425, ll. 16-18. The state reiterated the statements from the call, specifically, that appellant said, "I unloaded on him." Tr. II, p. 425, ll. 19-21. The state argued that the jail call showed malice days later. Tr. II, p. 425, l. 23. The state pointed out that the jury could listen to the jail call as many times as they liked and emphasized that the call told "you exactly what he did and why he did it." Tr. II, p. 425, l. 24 – 426, l. 3. The state continued that "[t]he motive, the malice, and the means all in that jail call." Tr. II, p. 426, ll. 3-4. The state played the jail call for the jury. Tr. II, p. 427, l. 25.

Verdict and sentencing

The jury returned a verdict of guilty as to the charges of murder charge and possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime. Tr. II, p. 458, ll. 16-25. During the sentencing hearing, the state noted that it served notice of mandatory imposition of a life sentence pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45. Tr. II, p. 463, ll. 1-7. Judge McLeod thus imposed a life sentence as to the murder charge and a five-year concurrent sentence as to the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime charge. Tr. II, p. 468, ll. 15-24.

Discussion

The trial court erred by refusing to exclude the recorded jail call between appellant and his niece because the call violated his privacy rights under the United States and South Carolina Constitutions as appellant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in using the jail telephones and making phone calls.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. “The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, . . .” U.S. Const. amend. IV. The South Carolina Constitution also prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures and additionally includes an express protection of the right to privacy. “The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and *unreasonable invasions of privacy* shall not be violated, and no warrants shall issue but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, the person or thing to be seized, and the information to be obtained.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 10 (emphasis added).

In *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 643-44, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The relationship between the two constitutions is significant because “[s]tate courts may afford more expansive rights under state constitutional provisions than the rights which are conferred by the Federal Constitution.” *State v. Easler*, 327 S.C. 121, 131 n. 13, 489 S.E.2d 617, 625 n. 13 (1997); *see also State v. Austin*, 306 S.C. 9, 409 S.E.2d 811 (Ct. App. 1991). Therefore, state courts can develop state law to provide their citizens with a second layer of constitutional rights. *Id.* This relationship is often described as a recognition that the federal Constitution sets the floor for individual rights while the state constitution establishes the ceiling. *See Segura v. Texas*, 826 S.W.2d 178, 182 (Tex. App. 1992). Thus, this Court can interpret the state protection against

unreasonable searches and seizures in such a way as to provide greater protection than the federal Constitution.

In *State v. Ellefson*, 266 S.C. 494, 224 S.E.2d 666 (1976), the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed the conviction finding the admission of incriminating letters written by a pre-trial detainee and obtained by a detective not affiliated with the jail should have been excluded as a product of an illegal search and seizure. In *Ellefson*, the Court wrote:

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