**RECEIVED**

**Aug 26 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-001268

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT

v.

MARK ANTHONY FESTUS SCHEIBLER,.....APPELLANT.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

P. SANDERS LINKER  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-0918

SAMUEL R. HUBBARD, III  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

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

And so, . . . he's fleeing this crime . . . when he returns back to Richland County. He's fleeing this crime when he gets rid of the car, and he's fleeing this crime, *or concealing this crime, when he wipes that phone and then ultimately this phone number is going to be traced. And he says, "They got me. Phone killed me."* And the testimony that we offered in the last trial is that he's then detained. The jury never heard . . . he's got another charge, ultimately, that he's going to be arrested on too. But he's detained also on *this* charge, because those authorities knew he was wanted as a suspect in this case. . . .

So there is a very strong nexus . . . between this phone, that communication, and ultimately him being detained on December 2 and stating, "My phone got me." At the same time that he's sending *that* text . . . he's also texting multiple other people saying that he wants or needs a ride. He is thanking someone by the name of Abby Kirby, who, as evidence will show in this case, . . . lives in very close proximity to where that vehicle is ditched and abandoned. And he's communicating with them, thanking them for their help, obviously showing his intent to flee and his state of mind.

[H]ere the evidence of flight is directly connected to the murder of [Victim], from the time he fled the crime scene onwards. From the time he fled the crime scene, ditched that car, factory reset his phone, and then gets apprehended and said, "My phone killed me." It's all relevant and probative . . . to his state of mind and his knowledge of what law enforcement can and cannot trace, and his wanton ability, capabilities in this case, to conceal and destroy evidence. And he did conceal and destroy the gun. That's never been recovered. He did conceal that car until two weeks ago. And he did conceal and destroy evidence on that phone. We only have evidence for the very date that he was detained, which was December 2. *Although we know he was using that phone for a long period of time.* In fact, he's going to send a text to someone saying, "Delete this." *All relevant, Your Honor, to show his intent to conceal and destroy evidence relating to the murder of* [Victim].

(Tr. I, p. 90, ln. 22—Tr. I, p. 94, ln. 5) (emphasis added).

Appellant replied again arguing there was no flight in this case, distinguishing from cases where the defendant had actually fled on foot from law enforcement (held to be flight) or where the defendant was proverbially "ducking and dodging" law enforcement's attempt to interview him (held to be not flight).<sup>7</sup> The solicitor maintained that Appellant was in flight from the moment of the shooting where he fled the scene and was not there when law enforcement arrived, and he

---

<sup>7</sup> Those cases were *State v. Crawford*, 362 S.C. 627, 608 S.E.2d 886 (Ct. App. 2005) and *State v. Middleton*, 441 S.C. 55, 893 S.E.2d 279 (2023), respectively.

did not call 911. The trial court declined to grant Appellant's motion to suppress, instead noting it would address the issue again as it came up during trial. (Tr. I, pp. 94–96).

During trial but outside of the presence of the jury, the State reiterated its position on the admissibility of the texts, noting that the -1170 number at issue in the case was the same phone recovered from Appellant that was only activated *after* the unrelated Richland County shooting and was the same phone factory reset three times and from which Appellant made the incriminating “phone killed me” text. The solicitor noted that based on phone records from Verizon, Appellant had made multiple communications to friends and family between the murder and December 2 that were not recovered from the phone because of the factory resets. The solicitor thus argued that, while flight may pertain to one of the proposed text messages, other texts concern concealment and destruction of evidence which is an independent basis to admit the evidence as consciousness of guilt. For example, the solicitor cited the text from Appellant to his niece indicating that he was leaving for Myrtle Beach with the added instruction to “Delete this,” later admitted as State's Exhibit 181. The solicitor explained that a text like this would be relevant and probative to further explain the factory resets. (Tr. II, pp. 119–124).

The “phone killed me” or “phone got me” text on the other hand, the solicitor argued, was *directly* relevant and probative to consciousness of guilt based on the factory resets, cell records showing Appellant's movements away from the crime scene, the non-activation of Appellant's phone during the timeframe of the murder, and the fact the case was mostly built on circumstantial evidence. The solicitor also argued that based on the evidence regarding the abandoned rental car, having been abandoned in close proximity to where Appellant's niece Abby Kirby lived, and Appellant's eventual movements to Thrush Street in Columbia, the texts explain how Appellant was getting rides and assistance from other people to physically distance himself from the crime.

Thus, the solicitor surmised that the texts at issue here, State's Exhibits 180, 181, and 183 were admissible as consciousness of guilt, guilty knowledge, and concealment/destruction of evidence. (Tr. II, pp. 124–128).

Appellant maintained that the texts did not indicate anything specifically about the murder or Lexington County and that they were otherwise taken out of context from the cell phone. He contended that the State was merely speculating that the texts indicated some sort of flight from Lexington County. Thus, he argued it was irrelevant and inadmissible under Rule 402 or otherwise inadmissible under Rule 403. (Tr. II, pp. 129–132).

Eventually, after further back and forth argument, the trial court ruled as follows:

I'm overruling the objections. Obviously, if something comes up in testimony between now and then, we'll cross that bridge. But I intend to admit them over objection. I think they're relevant. I don't think they will confuse the jury. They may be prejudicial. I don't find they are unfairly prejudicial. I don't find they are substantially prejudicial in light of Rule 403.

I think you can certainly address it on cross, *but I think there's certainly an argument that . . . based off the time the text messages were sent, I think they can provide clarity to the jury instead of confusion.* But again, I haven't heard all the questions. So as of now, I intend to admit them subject to objection.

(Tr. II, p. 135, ll. 1–13) (emphasis added).

Thereafter, the State moved State's Exhibits 180, 181, and 183 into evidence which were admitted subject to Appellant's prior objections. (Tr. II, pp. 149–153).

## **B. Discussion**

"As a general rule, any guilty act, conduct, or statements on the part of the accused are admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt." *State v. McDowell*, 266 S.C. 508, 515, 224 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1976). For an act of a defendant to be relevant as evidence of guilty conduct or a guilty conscience, there must be a nexus between the conduct and the offense charged. *State v. Cartwright*, 425 S.C. 81, 92, 819 S.E.2d 756, 762 (2018); *State v. Martin*, 403 S.C. 19, 28, 742

S.E.2d 42, 47 (Ct. App. 2013). Flight from prosecution is admissible as evidence of guilt. *State v. Middleton*, 441 S.C. 55, 62, 893 S.E.2d 279, 283 (2023); *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 209, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006) (“Flight evidence is relevant when there is a nexus between the flight and the offense charged.”) (citations omitted). “The critical factor to the admissibility of evidence of flight is whether the totality of the evidence creates an inference that the defendant had knowledge that he was being sought by the authorities.” *Pagan*, 369 S.C. at 209, 631 S.E.2d at 266.

Here, as the solicitor correctly surmised, the texts at issue here were independently admissible as evidence of flight, consciousness of guilt, and guilty conduct in the form of instructing the deletion of inculpatory evidence. Moreover, the detailed evidentiary proffer made by the solicitor more than satisfied the nexus requirement. Importantly, the phone at issue here, the -1170 number could not be conflated with use in the Richland County shooting since Appellant did not start using the phone until after that unrelated incident. Instead, the record clearly shows that all the relevant activity regarding that phone was only related to the Lexington County murder at issue here with three factory resets, incriminating phone calls and texts made to witnesses like Fidler and Davidock which were independently corroborated by said witnesses despite the factory resets, the phone’s non-activation during the period immediately around the murder, and location data associated with Appellant’s phone records indicating Appellant fleeing the scene of the crime towards the area where law enforcement would eventually recover the abandoned rental vehicle—the same vehicle Appellant clearly stole based on the aforementioned witness testimony.

Taking it one exhibit at a time, the nexus was clearly established. First, the “phone killed me” text, State’s Exhibit 183, had a clear nexus to Victim’s murder as this specific phone left a highly incriminating trail of evidence in the wake of Appellant’s destructive and violent acts, despite his attempts to conceal inculpatory evidence. Appellant acknowledging that the trail left

by the phone “killed” him is about as guilty as guilty can be. Next, the text noting that it was his chance to leave for Myrtle Beach with the added instruction at the end to “delete” the text, State’s Exhibit 181, was equally admissible as evidence of flight since Appellant was aware of the inculpatory trail left by his phone and the fact that law enforcement were already bearing down on him for the Richland County shooting; *and* as evidence of a guilty conscience from Appellant’s instruction to delete inculpatory evidence. Finally, the text noting that Appellant was “buying as much time as possible” and asking for a “lift,” State’s Exhibit 180 was further evidence of Appellant’s flight and otherwise admissible to provide further relevant context to Appellant’s actions taken after the murder and further context to the other admissible texts. Appellant can show no abuse of discretion in the trial court’s decision finding these texts relevant.

Alternatively, Appellant argues that even if the texts were relevant (and thus generally admissible per Rule 401), the trial court should have excluded them under Rule 403. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if *its probative value is substantially outweighed* by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE (emphasis added). “The determination of the prejudicial effect of the evidence must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.” *State v. Gillian*, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007). “Evidence is unfairly prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one.” *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001).

In this case, the trial court properly found that these texts were not unfairly prejudicial and were not substantially prejudicial in light of Rule 403. As explained above, these texts were highly probative to further explain Appellant’s conduct between the shooting and his eventual arrest in

Columbia and to explain his guilty state of mind regarding his failed attempts to cover his tracks. Whatever prejudicial effect these texts may have had would simply be minimal in comparison to their probative value. Appellant can show no abuse of discretion in the trial court's balancing under the rule. Finally, even if the court erred in admitting these texts, such error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the other significant and competent evidence to Appellant's guilt. Error is harmless when it could not have reasonably affected the result of the trial. *State v. Simmons*, 423 S.C. 552, 566, 816 S.E.2d 566, 573–74 (2018) (quoting *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 447–48, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011)).

In this case, there were multiple eyewitnesses who attested to Appellant being furious at Victim alleging that Victim stole the property of his deceased girlfriend out of a U-Haul he parked next to Victim's property on November 24. Specifically, after ranting and raving to Van Williams that he was going to "make a crime scene" in reference to Victim, Appellant went to Fidler and Davidock's apartment and directly told Davidock that he was going to go to Victim's property, wait for him to come outside, and then shoot him—with Fidler overhearing the same. Friday morning, approximately 24 hours before the shooting, Fidler and Davidock both wake up to find their white rental car missing. Both made repeated attempts to get in contact with Appellant, imploring him to return the car. Meanwhile, on Saturday morning, eyewitnesses at Mac Circle heard gunshots and saw a white car fleeing the scene. Appellant texted and told over the phone both Davidock and Fidler within a few hours of the murder that they "don't want the car back." Their accounts were further corroborated by cell records from Appellant's phone showing that he called and texted them. Appellant's phone was factory reset during the midst of all this, and his phone was conveniently off during the timeframe immediately surrounding the murder.

Further analysis of cell tower location data shows Appellant's phone leaving Lexington County west along I-20 towards Aiken County within about an hour of the murder where law enforcement would later find the abandoned white rental car—and conveniently where Appellant's niece happened to live nearby. When law enforcement eventually arrested Appellant at Thrush Street, they found a backpack inside with loose ammunition consistent with the same casings found at the crime scene and a night vision monocular, a device that specifically allows a user to better see in the dark—perhaps a device that allowed Appellant to better facilitate a staged fire to Victim's camper before sunrise in order to stalk and shoot Victim dead as he left his girlfriend's camper. This evidence is substantial, not merely suspicious.

Accordingly, any error in admitting the texts in this case must be harmless because the non-objected to or non-appealed evidence just described was more than sufficient on its own to convict Appellant of Victim's murder. Therefore, this Court should affirm.

**III. The State agrees that the trial court erred in sentencing Appellant to an additional five-year sentence under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490**

Appellant argues that the trial court erred by imposing a five-year sentence under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490 when Appellant was also sentenced to life imprisonment for murder. The State agrees. Under Section (A) of the statute, the “five-year sentence does not apply in cases where the death penalty or a life sentence without parole is imposed for the violent crime.”

There was no objection to the sentence, and the trial court had no opportunity to consider its error. (*See* Tr. II, p. 468). Under standard preservation rules, this would normally bar an issue from appellate review. *See, e.g., State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). However, in *State v. Plumer*, 439 S.C. 346, 887 S.E.2d 134 (2023), our Supreme Court considered whether an objection was required to reach such an issue and reasoned that an objection was not required to address an illegal sentence. Our Supreme Court determined that an “appellate court may correct that sentence on direct appeal or remand the issue to the trial court even if the defendant did not object to the sentence at trial[.]” *Id.* at 351, 887 S.E.2d at 137. This is so “even if there is no real threat of incarceration beyond the limits of a legal sentence,” which had been a condition precedent in prior cases to reach an unpreserved sentencing issue. *Id.* Consequently, the manner of treatment to effect correction of the sentence is in this Court’s discretion.

## **CONCLUSION**

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the trial court should be affirmed.